Libertarian Party of Santa Clara County Constitution, By-Laws, and Meeting Rules

As amended 29 January 2022

Table of Contents

CONSTITUTION	
Article One – Name	3
Article Two – Purpose	3
Article Three – Central Committee	3
Article Four – Organization	3
Section 1. Local Units	
Section 2. Officers	
Section 3. Executive Committee	
Section 4. Judicial Committee	
Article Five – Meetings	
Section 1. Annual Meeting	
Section 2. Regular Meetings	
Section 3. Meeting Rules	
Article Six – By-Laws	
Article Seven – Amendments	4
BY-LAWS	5
Article One – Purpose and Scope	
Section 1. Purpose	
Section 2. Scope	
Article Two – Local Units	
Section 1. Types	
Section 2. Officers	
Article Three – Elected Officers	
Section 1. Qualifications	
Section 2. Chair	6
Section 3. Vice-Chair	6
Section 4. Secretary	6
Section 5. Treasurer	6
Section 6. Membership Chair	
Section 7. Publicity Chair	
Section 8. Newsletter Chair	
Section 9. Campaigns Chair	
Section 10. Fundraising Chair	
Section 11. Activities Chair	
Section 12. Suspension	
Section 13. Appeal	
Section 14. Vacancies	<u>7</u>
Article Four – Executive Committee	
Section 1. Meeting Notification	
Section 2. Transaction of Business by Mail	
Section 3. Transaction of Business Online	
Section 4. Proxy Voting	
Section 5. One Vote Per Person	8

Article Five – Judicial Committee	8
Section 1. Chair	8
Section 2. Hearing Notice	8
Section 3. Hearing Time	
Section 4. Right to Representation	9
Section 5. Ruling Time Limit	
Section 6. Quorum	
Article Six – Committees	
Section 1. Standing Committees	
Section 2. Working Committees	
Article Seven – State Party Representation	9
Article Eight – Central Committee Meetings	
Section 1. Meeting Schedule	
Section 2. Quorum	
Section 3. Time, Place, and Notice	
Article Nine – Finances and Accounting	
Section 1. Fiscal Calendar	
Section 2. Accounting	
Section 3. Disbursements	
Section 4. Campaign Finance Reports	
Section 5. Assistant Treasurer	
Article Ten – Platform	
Article Eleven – Endorsements	
Section 1. Central Committee Vote	
Section 2. Sixty-Day Changes to Ballot	
Section 3. Forty-Five Day Ballot Measure Additions	
Section 4. Tax/Bond Measures	
Section 5. Support Limited to Endorsed Positions	
Section 6. Publication of Facts and Personal Opinions	
Section 7. Recruitment or Training of Candidates	
Article Twelve – Executive Appeal	
Section 1. Petitions	
Section 2. Hearing and Remedy	
Article Thirteen – Amendments	
Article Fourteen – Parliamentary Authority	
MEETING RULES	
Article One – Parliamentary Authority	
Article Two – Voting Eligibility	14
Article Three – Voting Procedure	
Article Four – Agenda	14
Article Five – Elections	14
Article Six – Nominations	15
Section 1. Eligibility	
Section 2. Voting Procedure	15
Article Seven - Amendments	15

CONSTITUTION

Article One - Name

The name of this organization shall be the "Libertarian Party of Santa Clara County", hereinafter referred to as the "Party".

Article Two - Purpose

The purpose of the Party is to proclaim and implement the Statement of Principles of the national Libertarian Party by engaging in political and information activities within the County of Santa Clara in the State of California.

Article Three - Central Committee

If the Bylaws of the Libertarian Party of California (LPC) mandate the qualifications to be a county central committee member, the county central committee (hereinafter referred to as "central committee") shall consist of those individuals who so qualify, who live in Santa Clara County or choose to affiliate with Santa Clara County in accordance with the Bylaws of the LPC, and who are not members of any other county central committee.

Otherwise, including if the Bylaws of the LPC provide only an optional or default definition, or if they do not provide a definition at all, the county central committee shall consist of those individuals who: (a) have certified that they oppose the initiation of force as a means of achieving political or social goals, (b) are not registered to vote with any other political party, and (c) have paid dues as set by the Executive Committee. The Executive Committee may by resolution provide that individuals who live in Santa Clara County be considered to have met the dues requirement if they currently qualify for a particular voting, sustaining, or similar membership status in the national LP or the LPC which is based on payment of dues to that organization.

Article Four - Organization

Section 1. Local Units

The Party may charter local units.

Section 2. Officers

The officers of the Party shall be a Chair, a Vice-Chair, a Secretary, a Treasurer, and the chair of each Standing Committee. All of these officers shall be elected at the Annual Meeting of the central committee and shall take office immediately upon the close of such meeting and serve thereafter until the final adjournment of the next Annual Meeting.

Section 3. Executive Committee

The Executive Committee shall be responsible for the control and management of all of the affairs, properties, and funds of the Party consistent with this Constitution, its By-laws, and any Resolutions

which may be adopted at central committee meetings.

The Executive Committee of the Party shall be composed of the following:

- a. The elected officers of the Party.
- b. The chair of each Working Committee who is approved at a meeting of the central committee.
- c. The Party's representatives to the Executive Committee of the Libertarian Party of California.

Each Executive Committee member shall take office immediately upon his or her selection and serve thereafter until the selection of his or her replacement or until his or her position is vacated.

Section 4. Judicial Committee

The Judicial Committee shall be composed of three (3) central committee members elected at the Annual Meeting. The Judicial Committee shall take office immediately upon the close of the Annual Meeting and serve thereafter until the election of new Committee members. A member of the Judicial Committee may not serve on the Executive Committee. The Judicial Committee shall be the final body of appeal within the Party in all matters regarding interpretation of the Constitution, By-laws, Rules, or Resolutions of the Party, subject to the provision that a decision of the Committee may be overturned by a three-fourths vote of any central committee meeting.

Article Five – Meetings

Section 1. Annual Meeting

The central committee shall hold a meeting each year at a time and place set according to the Bylaws, to hold Party elections, nominate candidates, and conduct such other business as may come before it. This meeting shall be called the Annual Meeting of the central committee.

Section 2. Regular Meetings

The Executive Committee shall call other meetings of the central committee as required to conduct the business of the Party.

Section 3. Meeting Rules

The conduct of central committee meetings shall be governed by such Rules as may be adopted or amended at any central committee meeting.

Article Six – By-Laws

The By-laws are subordinate to this Constitution.

Article Seven – Amendments

This Constitution may be amended by a two-thirds vote at any meeting of the central committee provided that the amendment was proposed at the previous meeting, and notification of the proposed amendment accompanied the notice for the meeting at which the amendment will be considered.

BY-LAWS

Article One – Purpose and Scope

Section 1. Purpose

The purpose of the Party is to conduct the following activities consistent with the Statement of Principles:

- a. Disseminating Libertarian political philosophy by entering into political information activities.
- b. Nominating and supporting candidates for political offices.
- c. Promoting and coordinating the activities of local units.
- d. Supporting state and national Libertarian Party candidates.

Section 2. Scope

The Party shall normally conduct its activities only within the county of Santa Clara in the state of California. Any Party activities taking place outside of Santa Clara County must be coordinated with and approved by the Libertarian Party organizations having jurisdiction over the areas affected.

Article Two - Local Units

Section 1. Types

Local committees are responsible for organizing and coordinating Party activities within a community. There shall be two types of local committees:

- a. For each incorporated city or town located within Santa Clara County there shall be a City (or Town) Committee consisting of all central committee members whose address is within the boundaries of that city or town.
- b. For each college, university, or other educational institution with a campus located within Santa Clara County there shall be a Campus Committee consisting of all central committee members who are students, faculty, or staff of that institution.

Section 2. Officers

Each local committee shall elect a chair at least annually, may elect other officers as it deems appropriate, and shall report all such elections to the Party Secretary. The Executive Committee may appoint a chair, or conduct an election for chair by polling members of the local committee, for any local committee that has not conducted its own election for chair within the past 15 months.

Article Three - Elected Officers

Section 1. Qualifications

Only a person who is a member of the central committee and who has expressed a willingness to serve shall be eligible for election to any elected position of the Party.

Section 2. Chair

The Chair shall preside at all central committee meetings and at all meetings of the Executive Committee. He or she shall be the chief executive officer of the Party.

Section 3. Vice-Chair

The Vice-Chair shall act as assistant to the Chair, and shall perform the duties of the Chair in the event the Chair is, for any reason, unable to perform the duties of his or her office, or until a new Chair is appointed if the office of Chair becomes vacant.

Section 4. Secretary

The Secretary shall be the recording officer of the Party.

Section 5. Treasurer

The Treasurer shall receive, expend, and account for the funds of the Party under the supervision and direction of the Chair and Executive Committee.

Section 6. Membership Chair

The Membership Chair shall be responsible for activities to maintain and increase Libertarian voter registration and central committee membership.

Section 7. Publicity Chair

The Publicity Chair shall be responsible for the dissemination of information about the Party to the media and the public.

Section 8. Newsletter Chair

The Newsletter Chair shall be responsible for publication of a newsletter for dissemination of information about the Party to the members.

Section 9. Campaigns Chair

The Campaigns Chair shall be responsible for coordinating candidate recruitment, training, and support.

Section 10. Fundraising Chair

The Fundraising Chair shall be responsible for coordinating fundraising activities.

Section 11. Activities Chair

The Activities Chair shall be responsible for coordinating activities intended to involve, motivate, and

inspire members.

Section 12. Suspension

An officer may be suspended from office by a two-thirds vote of the Executive Committee. The office of a suspended officer shall be declared vacant unless the suspended officer appeals his or her suspension to the Judicial Committee within three (3) days of notification of suspension.

Section 13. Appeal

Upon appeal by the suspended officer, the Judicial Committee shall set the date of a hearing. Following the hearing, the Judicial Committee shall rule to either uphold the suspension, thereby vacating the office, or restore the officer to full authority. A failure to rule shall be deemed as restoring the officer to full authority.

Section 14. Vacancies

The Executive Committee shall appoint new officers, including the Chair, if vacancies or suspensions occur, such officers to complete the term of the office vacated.

Article Four - Executive Committee

Section 1. Meeting Notification

The Executive Committee shall meet at such time and place as may be determined by action of the Committee, by call of the Chair, or by the written request of one-third or more of the members of the Executive Committee. A written or verbal notice of the time and place of all meetings shall be given to each member of the Executive Committee not less than three (3) days prior to said meeting. Meetings may be held that include use of an electronic communication system which allows the normal rules of parliamentary procedure to be followed, including specifically the capability for simultaneous aural communication among all participants. A majority of the members of the Committee shall constitute a quorum for any meeting.

Section 2. Transaction of Business by Mail

The Executive Committee may, without meeting together, transact business by mail, by voting on questions submitted to them by or with the approval of the Chair. Two weeks shall be allowed for the return of the votes thereon by mail to the Party Secretary. If, at the expiration of the applicable period, the quorum of the Executive Committee have not returned their votes, the measure being voted upon shall be deemed to have failed; in all other cases, a majority of the votes returned shall carry the measure except where a higher vote is required by the Constitution or By-laws.

The Secretary must preserve all such votes until the next meeting of the Executive Committee, at which meeting the Executive Committee shall order the disposition of such votes.

Section 3. Transaction of Business Online

a. The Executive Committee may transact business online, by voting on motions proposed by any Executive Committee member. The Secretary shall designate for the recording of proposals and votes an online facility which is available to all Executive Committee members and which is capable of supporting the requirements of this section.

- b. Motions may be proposed as original motions or as alternatives for a motion already under consideration. An original motion and all of its alternatives (if any) shall constitute a motion group.
- c. A motion shall not be eligible for adoption unless votes have been cast on it (including explicit abstentions) numbering a majority of the voting members of the Executive Committee. No motion shall pass unless it is so eligible and it also receives the approval of a majority of those voting (not counting abstentions), or such higher requirement as may be required for approval of that type of motion.
- d. Members may cast votes independently on each motion in a group. Members may change their votes, including withdrawing them entirely which may have the effect of making a motion no longer eligible for adoption, at any time before the end of the voting period.
- e. The voting period for a motion group shall end when (i) 120 hours have passed since proposal of the original motion, or (ii) 48 hours have passed since the proposal of the most recent eligible alternative, whichever is later. The voting period shall also end if there is any motion in the group on which all Executive Committee members have cast votes (including explicit abstentions).
- f. If, at the end of the voting period, more than one motion in the group has sufficient yes votes to pass, the one with the highest number of yes votes shall be considered adopted. In case of a tie for highest number of yes votes, the one most recently proposed shall be considered adopted.

Section 4. Proxy Voting

A member of the Executive Committee may be represented by any central committee member at any meeting of the Executive Committee by written proxy.

Section 5. One Vote Per Person

Each member of the Executive Committee shall have only one vote, regardless of the number of offices he or she holds.

Article Five - Judicial Committee

Section 1. Chair

The Judicial Committee shall elect a chair who shall receive all appeals and petitions, and schedule hearings so as to obtain a quorum of the Committee. When a hearing is requested, the chair shall be allowed two (2) days to set the date of the hearing. Hearings and any other meetings may be held that include use of an electronic communication system which allows the normal rules of parliamentary procedure to be followed, including specifically the capability for simultaneous aural communication among all participants.

Section 2. Hearing Notice

The Judicial Committee must provide at least two (2) days notice to each of the interested parties to a hearing.

Section 3. Hearing Time

Hearings must be held within 14 days from the time the request is received by the Judicial Committee, unless otherwise specified.

Section 4. Right to Representation

Each party to a hearing shall have the right to represent his or her interests in the manner of his or her own choosing.

Section 5. Ruling Time Limit

The Judicial Committee must provide a ruling within two (2) days of the conclusion of a hearing, unless otherwise specified.

Section 6. Quorum

A majority of the members of the Judicial Committee shall constitute a quorum for any meeting.

Article Six - Committees

Section 1. Standing Committees

There shall be the following Standing Committees:

- Membership
- Publicity
- Newsletter
- Campaigns
- Fundraising
- Activities

The chair of each Standing Committee shall appoint one or more additional members to assist in carrying out his or her responsibilities.

Section 2. Working Committees

The Executive Committee shall establish such Working Committees as it deems appropriate and shall appoint a chair for each committee. Working Committees shall exist at the pleasure of the Executive Committee.

Article Seven - State Party Representation

The Executive Committee may appoint central committee members to fill those positions in the Libertarian Party of California which are to be selected by the county or regional organization. Such appointments shall be subject to ratification at the next central committee meeting. A meeting may fail to ratify an appointment only by electing a new member to fill the position for which the appointment was made.

Article Eight - Central Committee Meetings

Section 1. Meeting Schedule

At most three (3) months shall be allowed to elapse between meetings of the central committee.

Section 2. Quorum

Fifteen (15) central committee members shall constitute a quorum for any official business meeting. Meetings at which amendments to the Constitution, By-Laws, Meeting Rules, or Platform are to be voted on require a quorum of 25 central committee members.

Section 3. Time, Place, and Notice

The Executive Committee shall be responsible for setting the time and place of all meetings. A minimum of two (2) weeks notice shall be provided to the central committee membership concerning any meeting.

- a. Except as provided for in the immediately following paragraphs, meetings shall be held in person at a location within the boundaries of Santa Clara County.
- b. A 2/3 vote of the Executive Committee shall be required to hold a meeting at any other location.
- c. A 2/3 vote of the Executive Committee shall be required to hold a meeting in which some or all of the participating members attend electronically. Such a meeting must be conducted using a communication system which allows the normal rules of parliamentary procedure to be followed, including specifically the capability for simultaneous aural communication among all participants.

Article Nine – Finances and Accounting

Section 1. Fiscal Calendar

The fiscal term of the Party shall coincide with the calendar year.

Section 2. Accounting

- a. The Treasurer shall install and maintain an efficient system of accounts meeting such requirements as may be established by the Executive Committee.
- b. The Treasurer shall record in the accounting system all contributions or other funds received and all disbursements, in whatever form, along with such additional documentation as may be required to comply either with campaign finance laws and regulations or with such auditing procedures as may be established by the Executive Committee.
- c. The Treasurer shall provide financial statements, to include at least a summary of all funds received, all funds disbursed, all financial assets, and all financial liabilities, to the Executive Committee at least once per quarter.

Section 3. Disbursements

- a. No expenditure greater than \$20 shall be made in cash. The Treasurer may maintain a petty cash fund of no more than \$100 for the purpose of making cash payments, and shall include this cash as an asset in financial statements.
- b. Except as provided for in the preceding paragraph, all Party funds shall be kept in, and all disbursements made from, an account at a bank or other financial services entity independent of the Party and approved by the Executive Committee. The Treasurer shall promptly deposit all contributions or other funds received into such an account.

c. The Treasurer shall maintain a record of all disbursements, in any form and from any account, including at least the date, payee, and purpose, and shall report this information to the Executive Committee at least monthly.

Section 4. Campaign Finance Reports

The Treasurer shall be responsible for filing such reports of contributions and expenditures as the Party may be required to file under campaign finance laws and regulations, along with any associated forms, and shall make available to the Executive Committee a copy of all such reports and forms within ten (10) days of them being filed.

Section 5. Assistant Treasurer

To provide for continuity in the execution of the Treasurer's responsibilities, the Executive Committee shall designate another officer to serve in the additional role of Assistant Treasurer. The Assistant Treasurer shall have access to all financial records and may assist in performing any of the functions of the Treasurer under the direction of the Treasurer. If the Treasurer is unable to perform the functions of that office for any reason, either temporarily or permanently, the Assistant Treasurer shall have the authority to perform all of those functions until the Treasurer is able to resume performing those functions or a new Treasurer has been selected.

Article Ten – Platform

The Party may adopt a Platform, which shall consist of the Statement of Principles of the national Libertarian Party along with planks addressing specific topics. Adoption or amendment of the Platform shall be by vote of the central committee at a meeting for which the notice included a statement that such action would be considered. Adoption of new language, including new planks or modification or replacement of an existing plank, or any amendments affecting more than one plank shall require a 2/3 vote; deletion of a single existing plank may be done by a majority vote.

Article Eleven – Endorsements

Section 1. Central Committee Vote

Except as provided in Sections 2, 3, and 4 below, the Party shall make endorsements, make recommendations, or otherwise take positions with respect to elections, nominations, measures, or other matters appearing on a public ballot only by a two-thirds vote of the central committee at a meeting the notice for which included a statement that such action would be considered. "Public ballot" includes any general, special, primary, or other election conducted by any level of government.

Section 2. Sixty-Day Changes to Ballot

If, within 60 days of an election, (1) a new matter is added to the ballot, (2) a new candidate or other option is added to a matter already on the ballot, or (3) a candidate or option upon which the central committee has previously taken a position is removed from the ballot, the Executive Committee may, by a three-fourths vote, take a position on behalf of the Party with respect to the matter affected by the change.

Section 3. Forty-Five Day Ballot Measure Additions

If a measure, other than a statewide measure, is placed on the ballot within 45 days of the deadline for submission of ballot arguments, the Executive Committee may, by a three-fourths vote, take a position on that measure on behalf of the Party in order to allow an argument to be submitted by the Party or by one or more Party officers using their Party titles. This position shall be effective only upon actual submission of such an argument to the appropriate election official prior to the deadline.

Section 4. Tax/Bond Measures

If an effect of a measure would be to create, increase, or extend the time or geographic scope of a tax, or to authorize bonds, the Executive Committee may, by a three-fourths vote, take a position on behalf of the Party in opposition to it. If the primary and stated purpose of a measure is to create a new tax, increase or extend an existing tax, or authorize bonds, the Chair may take a position on behalf of the Party in opposition to it.

Section 5. Support Limited to Endorsed Positions

No Party officer shall use his office or allow Party funds or other Party resources to be used to support or oppose any candidate or other option in any matter appearing on a public ballot, except in accordance with a position taken by the Party as provided in Sections 1, 2, 3, or 4 of this Article.

Section 6. Publication of Facts and Personal Opinions

Nothing in this Article shall be construed to prohibit publication in a Party newsletter or on a Party web site of factual material relating to matters appearing on a public ballot, or of signed opinion articles stating the personal opinions of their authors, as long as such opinions are clearly identified as not being official positions of the Party.

Section 7. Recruitment or Training of Candidates

Nothing in this Article shall be construed to prohibit use of Party resources for the recruitment or training as candidates of Party members who have not yet received an endorsement, as long as no position specifically opposing their candidacy has been taken by the Party.

Article Twelve – Executive Appeal

Section 1. Petitions

Any action taken by a Party Officer or the Executive Committee may be appealed to the Judicial Committee by the petition of 25 central committee members. A central committee member may only sign one such petition in any six (6) month period.

Section 2. Hearing and Remedy

The Judicial Committee will hold a hearing to determine whether or not the action in question was within the scope of the Constitution, By-laws, Rules, and Resolutions of the Party. Should the Committee rule that the action was not proper, then the Judicial Committee shall direct such corrective measures as it deems appropriate.

Article Thirteen - Amendments

These By-Laws may be amended by a majority vote at any meeting of the central committee provided that the amendment was proposed at the previous meeting, and notification of the proposed amendment accompanied the notice for the meeting at which the amendment will be considered.

Article Fourteen – Parliamentary Authority

Robert's Rules of Order as newly revised shall be the parliamentary authority for all matters of procedure not specifically covered by the Constitution, By-laws, or Rules of the Party.

MEETING RULES

Article One - Parliamentary Authority

Robert's Rules of Order as newly revised shall be the parliamentary authority for all matters of procedure not specifically covered by these Rules.

Article Two - Voting Eligibility

All central committee members shall be eligible to vote on all matters. In order to vote on a given matter, a central committee member must be present at the time the vote is taken. Each central committee member present shall have one vote.

Article Three - Voting Procedure

On all matters except elections and nominations, voting will be by voice vote or show of hands. If ten or more central committee members object to the Chair's ruling on the outcome of the vote, a roll call vote will be held.

Voting on elections and nominations will normally be by written ballot or roll call vote, unless a race is uncontested, in which case a voice vote or show of hands may be used.

In any situation which calls for a voice vote or show of hands, an electronic voting method which provides an actual count and allows attendees to observe the votes may be used instead. In any situation which calls for a roll call vote, an electronic voting system which provides a permanent record of each vote and allows attendees to observe the votes may be used instead. In any situation which calls for a written ballot, an electronic voting system which provides an actual count along with a record of the votes which can be independently audited may be used instead.

Article Four - Agenda

The business of a meeting may consist of the following items which shall be conducted in the following order:

- Reports of Party Officers
- Committee Reports
- Resolutions and other business
- Elections
- Nominations of Candidates

Article Five - Elections

Nominations for the Party offices shall be from the floor. For each office, a majority vote will be necessary and sufficient for election.

In cases where no candidate receives a majority vote on the first ballot, runoff votes will be held, dropping the lowest running candidates after each ballot.

Article Six - Nominations

Section 1. Eligibility

A candidate may only be nominated for any office who is eligible to serve in that office and who has expressed a willingness to accept the nomination of the Party.

Section 2. Voting Procedure

Nominees for any office shall be chosen by majority vote. Should no candidate obtain a majority on a ballot, then a new ballot shall be taken. After every second ballot, if no candidate has yet received a majority vote, the candidate with the least number of votes shall be struck from subsequent ballots.

Article Seven – Amendments

These Rules may be amended by a majority vote at any meeting of the central committee provided that the amendment was proposed at the previous meeting, and notification of the proposed amendment accompanied the notice for the meeting at which the amendment will be considered.